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Subsequent cosis

The cost of replacing part of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow
to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The cost of the day-to-day servicing of plant
and equipment are recognised in the statement of total return as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation of plant and equipment is recognised in the statement of total return on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of 2 to 5 years.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate,
at each reporting date.

[nvestment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation
or for both. Investment properties are measured at cost on initial recognition, and subsequently
at fair value with any changes therein recognised in the statement of fotal return. Fair value is
determined in accordance with the Trust Deed, which requires investment properties to be valued
by independent registered valuers in such manner and frequency required under Appendix 6 of
the CIS Code (“Property Fund Appendix”) issued by MAS.

Subsequent expenditure relating to investment properties that has already been recognised is
added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in

excess of originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Group.
All other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

When an investment property is disposed of, the resulting gain or loss recognised in the statement
of total return is the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the

property.

Intangible asset

Goodwill

Goodwill and bargain purchase may arise upon the acquisition of subsidiaries.

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred over the Group's
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised
immediately in the statement of total return.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented in intangible asset. Goodwill is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, and tested for impairment.
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Financial instruments

)

(i)

Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All
other financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through the statement of total
return) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial assets expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on
the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets
that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to
seftle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following category: loans and
receivables.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and fixed deposits.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognises debt securities issued on the date that they are originated. All
other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through the statement
of total return) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged
or cancelled or expired.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities
category. Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise borrowings and trade and other payables.
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(iii) Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest
rate risk exposures arising from operating, financing and investing activities. Derivative
financial instruments are not used for trading purposes. However, derivatives that do not
qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments. The Group does not
adopt hedge accounting for its derivative financial instruments as at 30 June 2018.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable iransaction costs are recognised
in the statement of total return as incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value. All changes in fair
value is recognised immediately in the statement of total return. However, if derivatives
qualify for hedge accounting, subsequent to initial recognition, changes in fair value therein
are accounted for as described below,

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in
cash flows attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a
highly probable forecast transaction that could affect total return, the effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised and presented in the hedging reserve
in unitholders’ funds. The amount recognised in unitholders’ funds is removed and included
in the statement of total return in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect total return
under the same line item in the statement of total return as the hedged item. Any ineffective
portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the
statement of total return,

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is
sold, terminated or exercised, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in unitholders’ funds remains there until the
forecast transaction occurs. When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount
recognised in unitholders’ funds is transferred to the carrying amount of the asset when it is
recognised. In other cases, the amount recognised in unitholders’ funds is transferred to the
statement of total return in the same period that the hedged item affects total return.

Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of a derivative hedging instrument designated as a fair value hedge
are recognised in the statement of total return. The hedged item is also stated at fair value
in respect of the risk being hedged; the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk is
recognised in the statement of total return with an adjustment to the carrying amount of the
hedged item.

Unitholders' funds

Unitholders’ funds represent the residual interest in the Group's net assets upon termination and

are classified as equity. Expenses incurred in the issuance and placement of units (if any) in the
Group are deducted directly against unitholders’ funds.
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Impairment
Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through the statement of total return is assessed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial
asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash
flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a
tenant, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise, indications that a tenant or issuer will enter bankruptcy. In addition, for an investment
in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective
evidence of impairment.

Loans and receivables

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset
and collective level. All individually significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment.
All individually significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively
assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans and receivables
that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together
loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default,
timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for the Manager’s judgement as to
whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be
greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in the statement of
total return and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables. Interest on the
impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When the
Group considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts
are written off. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, then the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through the statement of total return.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment properties, are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If
any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. An impairment loss is recognised if
the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (“CGU™) exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount.
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The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell, In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing,
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of
other assets or CGUs. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill
impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level
at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of total return. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the CGU (groups of CGUs) and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the CGU
(groups of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations, including contributions to defined contribution pension
plans, if any, are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided in the statement of total return.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus where
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Revenue recognition

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in the statement of total return on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives
granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental to be received. Contingent rentals,
which include gross turnover rental, are recognised as income in the accounting period on a
receipt basis. No contingent rentals are recognised if there are uncertainties due to the possible
return of amounts received.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in the statement of total return on the date that the Trust’s right to
receive payment is established.

F§21

111-30



311

3.12

3.13

Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trust and it subsidinries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

Finance income and finance expenses

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and derivative financial instruments.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in the statement of total return, using the effective
interest method.

Finance expenses comprises interest expense on borrowings and derivative financial instruments
and amortisation of loan acquisition expenses. All borrowing costs are recognised in the statement
of total return using the effective interest method.

Expenses

(i) Property operating expenses

Property operating expenses are recognised on an accrual basis. Included in property
operating expenses are mainly property tax, maintenance and sinking fund contributions,
leasing and upkeep expenses, marketing expenses, administrative expenses, as well as
property management fees and leasing commission which are based on the applicable
formula stipulated in Note 1(a).

(i) Management fees

Management fees are recognised on an accrual basis based on the applicable formula
stipulated in Note 1(b).

(iii) Trust expenses

Trust expenses are recognised on an accrual basis. Included in trust expenses is the Trustee’s
fee which is described in Note 1(d).

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are
recognised in the statement of total return except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items directly related to unitholders’ funds, in which case it is recognised in
unitholders® funds.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax

payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax is not recognised for:

e temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is
not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and

s temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner
in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to
temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

The Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore has issued a tax ruling dated 20 May 2005 (“Tax
Ruling”) on the taxation of the Trust for income eamed and expenditure incurred after its listing
on the SGX-ST. Subject to meeting the terms and conditions of the Tax Ruling, the Trustee will
not be assessed to tax on the taxable income of the Trust. Instead, the Trustee and the Manager
will deduct income tax at the prevailing corporate tax rate from the distributions made to
unitholders that are made out of the taxable income of the Trust. However, where the beneficial
owners are individuals or qualifying unitholders, the Trustee and the Manager will make the
distributions to such unitholders without deducting any income tax. Also, where the beneficial
owners are foreign non-individual unitholders, the Trustee and the Manager will deduct Singapore
income tax at the reduced rate of 10% for such distributions.

A qualifying unitholder is a unitholder who is:

(i) a Singapore-incorporated company which is a tax resident in Singapore;

(ii) a body of persons, other than a company or a partnership, registered or constituted in
Singapore (for example, a town council, a statutory board, a registered charity, a registered
co-operative society, a registered trade union, a management corporation, a club and a trade
and industry association);

(iii) a Singapore branch of a foreign company;

(iv) an international organisation that is exempt from tax on such distributions by reason of an
order made under the International Organisations (Immunities and Privileges) Act (Cap.
145); or

(v) a real estate investment trust exchange-traded fund which has been accorded the tax
transparency treatment.

A foreign non-individual unitholder is one who is not a resident of Singapore for income tax
purposes and

(i) which does not have a permanent establishment in Singapore; or

(ii) which carries on any operation in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore
where the funds used to acquire the units are not obtained from that operation in Singapore.
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The Trust is exempt from Singapore income tax under Section 13(12) of the Income Tax Act on
the following income:

(i) dividends;
(ii) interest on shareholder's loans; and
(iii) foreign-sourced trust distribution

payable by its subsidiaries out of underlying rental income derived from the overseas investment
properties. This exemption is granted subject to certain conditions, including the condition that
the Trustee is a tax resident of Singapore.

The Trust’s distribution policy is to distribute at least 90% of its annual taxable income. For any
remaining amount of taxable income not distributed, tax will be assessed on, and collected from,
the Trustee on such remaining amount (referred to as retained taxable income). In the event where
a distribution is subsequently made out of such retained taxable income, the Trustee and the
Manager will not have to make a further deduction of income tax from the distribution.

The above Tax Ruling does not apply to gains from sale of real properties, if considered to be
trading gains derived from a trade or business carried on by the Trust. Tax on such gains or profits
will be assessed, in accordance with Section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134 and
collected from the Trustee. Where the gains are capital gains, it will not be assessed to tax and
the Trustee and the Manager may distribute the capital gains without tax being deducted at source.

Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which
it may earn revenues and incur expenses including revenues and expenses that relate to
transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results
are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete
financial information is available.
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Investment properties
Group Trust
5000 5000
At 1 July 2016 3.136.604 2,141,000
Additions and straight-line rental adjustments 12,860 2,507
Divestment (4.137) —
Change in fair value of investment properties (16,321) 3,493
Translation differences 7.309 -
At 30 June 2017 3,136,315 2,147,000
Additions and straight-line rental adjustments 15,294 1,496
Divestment (5,059) -
Change in fair value of investment properties (22,669) (1,496)
Translation differences (5,543) -
At 30 June 2018 3,118,338 2,147,000

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on valuations performed by independent
professional valuers having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and experience in
the location and category of property being valued.

The Group has a framework with respect to the measurement of fair values of its investment
properties, which is regularly reviewed by the Manager.

In determining the fair value, the valuers have used valuation techniques which involve certain
estimates. In relying on the valuation reports, the Manager has exercised its judgement and is
satisfied that the valuation methods and estimates are reflective of current market conditions. The
valuation reports are prepared in accordance with recognised appraisal and valuation standards.
The estimates underlying the valuation techniques in the next financial year may differ from
current estimates, which may result in valuations that may be materially different from the
valuations as at balance sheet date.

The valuers have considered the capitalisation approach and/or discounted cash flow method in
arriving at the open market value as at the balance sheet date. The capitalisation approach
capitalises an income stream into a present value using single-year capitalisation rates. The
income stream used is adjusted to market rentals currently being achieved within comparable
investment properties and recent leasing transactions achieved within the investment property.
The discounted cash flow method involves the estimation and projection of an income stream
over a period and discounting the income stream with an internal rate of return to arrive at the
market value. The discounted cash flow method requires the valuer to assume a rental growth
rate indicative of market and the selection of a target internal rate of return consistent with current
market requirements.

At 30 June 2018, investment properties with a carrying value of approximately $829.9 million
(2017: $843.7 million) are mortgaged to secure credit facilities for the Group (Note 12),
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Fair value hierarchy

The Group’s investment properties are valued based on unobservable inputs and classified in
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The different levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined in
Note 24.

The following table shows the key unobservable inputs used in the valuation models of the
investment properties as at 30 June 2018§:

Inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs and
Investment properties Key unobservable inputs fair value measurement
Commercial properties for = Capitalisation rates from The estimated fair value would
leasing 3.75% to 7.00% (2017: from  increase if capitalisation rates
3.75% to 8.25%) and discount rates decrease.

» Discount rates from 3.60% to
8.25% (2017: from 3.80% to
8.50%)

Key unobservable inputs correspond to:
e Capitalisation rates largely derived from comparable transactions.
o Discount rates, which are largely based on the risk-free rate of government bonds in the

relevant market, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect the increased risk of investing in the
asset class.

Plant and equipment

Group Trust

57000 §7000
Cost:
At 1 July 2016 3,168 T90
Additions 53 -
Disposal/write-off (1,230) -
Translation differences (3) =
At 30 June 2017 1,988 790
Disposal/write-off (124) -
Translation differences 16 -
At 30 June 2018 1,880 790
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Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 July 2016
Depreciation charge
Disposal/write-off
Translation differences
At 30 June 2017
Depreciation charge
Disposal/write-off
Translation differences
At 30 June 2018

Carrying amount:
At 1 July 2016

At 30 June 2017
At 30 June 2018

Interests in subsidiaries

Equity investments at cost
Advances to subsidiaries

Less: allowance for impairment loss

Starhifl Global Real Extate Investment Trust and ity subsidiaries
Financial statements

Year ended 30 Sune 2018
Group Trust
5000 5000
(2,722) (649)
(361) (141)
1,150 -
4 -
(1,929) (790)
(12) =
118 -
(15) =
(1,838) (790)
446 141
59 -
42 -
Trust
2018 2017
$%000 £000
484,538 491,391
206,086 216,461
690,624 707,852

(100,400) (99,000)
590,224 608,852

Advances to subsidiaries are unsecured. The advances form part of the Trust’s interests in
subsidiaries as settlement of these amounts is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable
future, and are stated at cost less impairment loss,

The Manager has reassessed for impairment by comparing the recoverable amount of the Trusts
interests in subsidiaries against the carrying amount of the Trust’s investment in subsidiaries. The
recoverable amount was estimated based on the fair value of the subsidiaries’ net assets as at
reporting date, which is classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. As the recoverable amount
was lower than the net carrying amount of the Trust’s interest in these subsidiaries, an impairment
loss of $1.4 million (2017: $9.0 million) was recognised for the year ended 30 June 2018, mainly
in line with the drop in valuation of the China Property as at 30 June 2018.
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The movement in the allowance for impairment loss in respect of interests in the Japan and China

subsidiaries was as follows:

At 1 July
Impairment loss recognised
At 30 June

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows;

Name of subsidiary

Starhill Global REIT Japan SPC One Pte Ltd (¥
Starhill Global REIT Japan SPC Two Pte Ltd "
Starhill Global REIT MTN Pte Ltd (¥

SG REIT (M) Pte Ltd

SG REIT (WA) Pte Ltd @

Starhill Global REIT One TMK @

Starhill Global ML K.K. ®

Top Sure Investment Limited )

Chengdu Xin Hong Management Co., Ltd @
(formerly known as Renhe Spring Department
Store Co., Lid)

SG REIT (WA) Trust @

SG REIT (WA) Sub-Trust] @

SG REIT (SA) Sub-Trust2 @

Ara Bintang Berhad @

(M Audited by KPMG LLP

@ Audited by other member firms of KPMG International
@) Not required to be andited by the laws of the country of incorporation

@ Audited by other auditors
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Trust
2018 2017
000 5000
(99,000) (90,000)
(1,400) (9,000)
(100,400) (99,000)
Country of Effective interest
incorporation 2018 2017
Yo Yo
Singapore 100 100
Singapore 100 100
Singapore 100 100
Singapore 100 100
Singapore 100 100
Japan 100 100
Japan 100 100
Hong Kong 100 100
China 100 100
Australia 100 100
Australia 100 100
Australia 100 100
Malaysia 100 100
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Derivative financial instruments

Group

Non-current assets
Interest rate swaps and caps

Current assets
Interest rate swaps and caps
Foreign exchange forwards

Non-current linbilities
Interest rate swaps

Current liabilities
Interest rate swaps
Foreign exchange forwards

Trust

Non-current assets
Interest rate swaps and caps

Current assets
Interest rate swaps and caps
Foreign exchange forwards

MNon-current liabilities
Interest rate swaps

Current liabilities
Interest rate swaps
Foreign exchange forwards
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2018 2017
Contract Contract

notional Fair notional Fair

amount value amount value

$7000 $'000 $'000 5000
352,700 1,964 144,000 41
263,500 157 100,000 24
4,400 87 8,500 61
267,900 244 108,500 85
620,600 2,208 252,500 126
246,100 1,242 316,600 1,827
113,500 157 278,200 2,006
5,300 42 10,000 172
118,800 199 288200 2,178
364,900 1,441 604,800 4.005
352,700 1,964 77,400 41
200,000 157 100,000 24
3,000 85 5,000 39
203,000 242 105,000 63
555,700 2,206 182,400 104
100,000 453 250,000 1,522
50,000 80 125,000 1,001
1,600 5 7.400 135
51,600 85 132,400 1,226
151,600 538 382 400 2,748
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The Group has entered into various derivative transactions under International Swaps and
Derivatives Association Master Agreements (“ISDA Master Agreements") with various bank
counterparties. The derivative financial instruments presented above are not offset in the balance
sheet as the right of set-off of recognised amounts is enforceable only following the occurrence
of a termination event as set out in such ISDA Master Agreements. Upon the occurrence of a
termination event resulting in the set-off of related derivatives in the balance sheet, the impact
would be approximately $0.3 million decrease (2017: $0.1 million decrease) in both derivative
assets and liabilities of the Group and Trust.

As at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, the Group’s derivative financial assets and liabilities are
not subject to an election for netting of payments under the enforceable master netting
arrangements, The Group and its counterparties do not intend to settle on a net basis or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

The net fair value of the derivative financial instruments represents 0.04% (2017: 0.2%) of the

Group's unitholders” funds as at 30 June 2018. The Group's and the Trust’s contractual maturities
analysis for derivative financial liabilities is disclosed in Note 12.

Trade and other receivables

Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 57000 $000 5000
Current
Trade receivables 1,629 3,670 208 494
Deposits 284 273 284 273
Other receivables 1,605 1,686 2,153 1,027
Loans and receivables 3,518 5,629 2,645 1,794
Prepayments 673 712 284 il6
4,191 6,341 2,929 2,110

Concentration of credit risk relating to trade receivables is limited due to the Group's and the
Trust’s varied mix of tenants and credit policy of obtaining security deposits from tenants for
leasing the Group's and the Trust's investment properties, where applicable, As at 30 June 2018,
the Group and the Trust have security deposits of approximately $31.3 million (2017: $31.4
million) and $24.5 million (2017: $24.8 million) respectively (Note 10).

There is no impairment loss arising from the Group’s deposits and other receivables balances,
none of which are past due at the reporting date. Included in other receivables of the Trust are

interest income receivable from its subsidiaries of approximately $1.6 million (2017: $0.5
million) as at 30 June 2018.
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The maximum exposure to credit risk for the loans and receivables at the reporting date by
geographic region was:

Group Trust

2018 2017 2018 2017

$000 000 5000 5000
Singapore 1,067 1,317 2,645 1,794
Australia 2,009 3,561 - -
Malaysia 272 611 - -
Others 170 140 - -
3,518 5,629 2,645 1.794

Impairment losses

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

Impairment Impairment
Gross losses Gross losses
2018 2018 2017 2017
$000 57000 5000 5000
Group
Not past due 650 (123) 844 -
Past due 0 - 30 days 237 (34) 297 -
Past due 31 — 120 days 408 (89) 2,368 (45)
More than 120 days 1,004 (424) 577 (371)
2,299 (670) 4,086 (416)
Trust
Not past due 131 (123) 389 -
Past due 0— 30 days 34 (34) 103 -
Past due 31 — 120 days 37 (37) £} (31)
More than 120 days 222 (222) 197 (197)
624 (416) 722 (228)

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year
was as follows:

Group Trust

2018 2017 2018 2017

5000 £'000 $°000 5000
At 1 July (416) (428) (228) (228)
Impairment loss recognised (379) (162) (235) -
Utilised 111 182 47 -
Translation differences 14 (8) - -
At 30 June (670) (416) (416) (228)

The Group’s and the Trust's historical experience in the collection of trade receivables falls
largely within the recorded allowances. Due to these factors and evaluations performed, the
Manager believes that, apart from the above, no additional significant credit risk beyond amounts
provided for collection losses is inherent in the Group's and the Trust’s remaining trade
receivables as these are partially covered by security deposits, bank guarantees and allowance for
impairment.
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Starhill Glabal Real Exiate Investmeni Trust and its subsidiaries

Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018
Cash and cash equivalents
Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash at bank and in hand 46,701 57,776 20,420 30,493
Fixed deposits with financial
institutions 20,029 18,827 - -
66,730 76,603 20,420 30,493
Trade and other payables
Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
5000 000 §'000 57000
Non-current
Deferred income - 30 - 30
Security deposits 22,460 24,333 20,549 18,973
22,460 24,363 20,549 19,003
Current
Trade payables 4327 5,074 3,428 3,986
Accrued expenses 6.963 6,644 2,237 2,271
Amounts due to:
- the Manager @ 2,757 2,684 2,757 2,684
- the Property Manager @ 708 819 708 819
- the Trustee @ 123 81 123 81
Interest payable 3,332 3,223 2,554 2,509
Deferred income 515 581 285 300
Security deposits 8,870 7,019 3,924 5,805
Other payables 11,038 12,637 8,291 8,099
38,633 38,762 24,307 26,554
61,003 63,125 44856 45,557

) Security deposits represent cash deposits received from tenants to secure leases of the Group’s and the

Trust’s investment properties.

@ The amounts due to the Manager, Property Manager and Trustee are mainly trade in nature, unsecured

and interest free,

The Group’s and the Trust's exposure to liquidity and currency risks related to trade and other

payables are disclosed in Notes 12 and 24,
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12.

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trusi and its subsidiaries
Financlal statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

Group

2018
§7000

6,336

2017
5000

6,748

) The deferred tax liability is mainly in respect of the China Property and has been estimated on the basis
of an asset sale at the current book value.

Movement in deferred tax liabilities of the Group (prior to offsetting of balances) during the year

was as follows:

Group

2018
Deferred tax liabilities
Investment properties

2017
Deferred tax liabilities
Investment properties

Borrowings

Non-current

Secured borrowings

Unsecured borrowings

Unamortised loan acquisition
expenses

Current

Secured borrowings

Unsecured borrowings

Unamortised loan acquisition
expenses

Total borrowings
(net of borrowing costs)

Recognised in
statement of
At total return  Translation At
1 July (Note 21)  differences 30 June
5000 57000 $'000 $'000
6,748 (506) 94 6,336
9,737 (3,065) 76 6,748
Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
5000 57000 5000 5000
257,255 171,745 - -
813,292 558,908 804,933 549,076
(3.616) (2,267) (2,979 (1,554)
1,066,931 728,386 801,954 547,522
63,479 153,258 - -
= 253,000 - 253,000
(81) (366) - (229)
63,398 405,892 - 252,771
1,130,329 1,134,278 801,954 800,293

The contractual terms of the Group’s and the Trust’s borrowings, which are measured at amortised
cost are disclosed below. The Group’s and the Trust’s exposure to interest rate, currency and

liquidity risks, is disclosed in Note 24.
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Starkill Global Real Estate Investment Trust and ity substdiaries

Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
Net derivative
financial
Interest (nssets)/
Borrowings payable liabilities Total
5'000 5000 $'000 5000
Group
Balance at 1 July 2017 1,134,278 3,223 3,879 1,141,380
Changes from financing cash Mows
Borrowing costs paid (3,427) {32418) (3,249) {39,094)
Proceeds from borrowings 482,000 - -~ 482,000
Repayment of borrowings {480,791} - - (480,791)
Total changes from financing cash fMlows (2,218) (32,418) (3,249) (37,885)
Other changes
Effects of exchange rate differences (4,368) - (25) (4,393)
Change in fair value of derivative
instruments - - {4,467) (4,467)
Amortisation of loan acquisition expenses 2,637 - - 2,637
Finance expenses - 32,527 3,095 35,622
Total other changes {1.731) 32,527 (1,397) 29,399
Balance at 30 June 2018 1,130,329 3,332 (767) 1,132,894
FS34
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Terms and debt repayment schedule

Terms and conditions of the outstanding borrowings were as follows:

2018

Group

JPY term loan facility ¥

SGD term loan facilities Y

SGD revolving credit facilities "
Singapore MTNs &

Japan bond 4
Australia loans
Malaysia MTN

Trust

JPY term loan facility ™V

SGD term loan facilities ™

SGD revolving credit facilities @
Intercompany loans ™

2017

Group

JPY term loan facility

SGD term loan facilities (¥

SGD revolving credit facilities (" @
Singapore MTNs @

Japan bond
Australia loans &
Malaysia MTN

Trust

JPY term loan facility 'V

SGD term loan facilities

SGD revolving credit facilities '@
Intercompany loans

Nominal
interest rate
Currency  per anoum
%
JPY 0.85
SGD 1.72-2.59
SGD 1.34-221
3GD 3.14-3.50
IPY 0.56-0.57
A% 294-383
RM 4.48
IPY 0.85
S5GD 1.72-2.59
8GD 1.34-221
s5GD 3.14-3.50
IPY 0.82-0.86
SGD 1.27-2.39
S5GD 1.23-1.66
SGD 3.14 =350
IPY 0.56-1.97
AS 2.99-3.76
RM 448
IPY 0.82-0.86
SGD 1.27-239
SGD 123 - 1.66
SGD 3.14-3.50

I1-44

Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trust and its subsidiaries

Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018
Year of Face Carrying
maturity value amount
5000 000
2020 49,933 49,933
2021 &£2022 460,000 460,000
2019 & 2022 - -
2021,2023 295,000 295,000
& 2026
2021 8,359 8,359
2019 & 2021 209,581 209,581
2019 111,524 111,153
1,134,397 1,134,026
2020 49,933 49,933
2021 & 2022 460,000 460,000
2019 & 2022 - -
2021, 2023 295,000 295,000
& 2026
804,933 804,933
2020 54,076 54,076
2018 450,000 450,000
2018 3,000 3,000
2021, 2023 295,000 295,000
& 2026
2021 0,832 9,832
2018 & 2019 219,846 219,846
2019 105,798 105,157
1,137,552 1,136,911
2020 54,076 54,076
2018 450,000 450,000
2018 3,000 3,000
2021, 2023 295,000 205,000
& 2026
802,076 802,076
F835
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Starfuill Global Real Extate Investment Trust and its subsidiaries
Financfal statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

The Group has in place the following unsecured loan facilities as at 30 June 2018, comprising:

(i) four-year and five-year unsecured loan facilities with a club of seven banks at inception,
comprising (a) term loan of $200 million (maturing in September 2021), (b) term loan of $260
million (maturing September 2022) and (¢) $240 million revolving eredit facilities (maturing in
September 2022) including a $50 million uncommitted tranche at inception and subsequently
fully converted to committed basis in July 2018. There is no amount outstanding under the above
revolving credit facilities as at the reporting date.

(ii) five-year unsecured term loan facilities comprizing balance of JPY4,05 billion ($49.9 million)
(2017: JPY4.4 billion ($54.1 million)) (maturing in July 2020) with two banks. In July 2018,
the Group has prepaid JPY350 million of the above loan using the net proceeds from the
divestment of Nakameguro Place in May 2018,

The interest rate on the above unsecured loan facilities was largely hedged using a combination of
interest rate swaps and caps as at 30 June 2018,

There is no amount outstanding (2017: $3 million) from its other unsecured revolving credit facility
as at 30 June 2018.

The Group has outstanding medium term notes (“MTN") of $295 million (2017; $295 million) as at
30 June 2018 issued by Starhill Global REIT MTN Pte Lid under its $2 billion multicurrency MTN
programme and rated at “BBB+" by Standard & Poor's Rating Services, comprising:

(i) 5100 million unsecured seven-year Singapore MTN (the "Series 002 Notes™) (issued in
February 2014 and maturing in February 2021) which bear a fixed rate interest of 3.50% per
annum payable semi-annually in arrears.

(if) $125 million unsecured eight-year Singapore MTN (the “Series 003 Notes™) (issued in May
2015 and maturing in May 2023) which bear a fixed rate interest of 3,40% per annum payable
semi-annually in arrears,

(i) $70 million unsecured 10-year Singapore MTN (the “Series 004 Notes™) (issued in October
2016 and maturing in October 2026) which bear a fixed rate interest of 3.14% per annum
payable semi-annually in arrears.

The proceeds from the above issuances were extended as intercompany loans to the Trust at the same
repayment terms.

At the reporting date, the Group has JPY678 million ($8.4 million) (2017: JPY0.8 billion ($9.8
million)) Japan bond outstanding and maturing in August 2021. Whilst no security has been pledged,
the bondholders of the Japan bond have a statutory preferred right, under the Japan Asset Liquidation
Law, to receive payment of all obligations under the Japan bond prior to other creditors out of the
assets of the issuer (Starhill Global REIT One TME).
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Starkill Global Real Estate Investmeni Trusi and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

1 The Group has outstanding term loans of A$208 million ($209.6 million) (2017: A$208 million
($219.8 million)) as at 30 June 2018, comprising;

()  A$63 million ($63.5 million) (2017: A%$63 million ($66.6 million)) (maturing in June 2019) loan
which was hedged via interest rate swap and is secured by a general security deed over all the
assels of 5G REIT (WA) Trust and a morigage over David Jones Building. In July 2018, the
Group has refinanced this A$63 million term loan for five years with the same bank ahead of
its maturity, extending the maturity to July 2023,

(ii) AS145 million ($146.1 million) (2017: A$145 million ($153.2 million)) (maturing in November
2021) loan which was hedged via interest rate swaps and is secured by a general security deed
over all the assets of SG REIT (SA) Sub-Trust2 and a mortgage over Myer Centre Adelaide.

©  The Group has outstanding five-year fixed-rate senior medium term notes of a nominal value of
RM330 million (“Second Senior MTN™) issued at a discounted cash consideration of approximately
RM325 million. The Second Senior MTN bear a fixed coupon rate of 4.48% per annum and have a
carrying amount of approximately RM328.9 million ($111.2 million) (2017: RM328.0 million
($105.2 million)) as at 30 June 2018. The notes have an expected maturity in September 2019 and
legal maturity in March 2021, and are secured, inter alia, by a fixed and floating charge over all the
assels of Ara Bintang Berhad.

The contractual maturities by type of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments
and excluding the impact of netting agreements, were as follows:

Cash flows
Carrying Coniraciual Within Within After
Note amount cashflows 1year 1to5years 5years
$'000 §T000 000 5000 57000

Group

28
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
JPY term loan facility 12 49933 (50,753) 4,711 (46,042) -
SGD term loan facilities 12 460,000 (504,815) (11,719)  (493,096)

Singapore MTNs 12 295000 (345469)  (9.948) (257,819)  (77.702)
Japan bond 12 8,359 (8,516) (48)  (8,468) =
Australia loans 12 209,581  (228,000) (68,835) (159,165) -
Malaysia MTN 12 1LI53  (117,779)  (4,996) (112,783)

Trade and other payables 10 61,093 (64,263)  (38,901)  (16,932) (8,430)
1,195,119 (1,319,595) (139,158) (1,094,305)  (86,132)
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Starhill Global Real Estate Trvestment Trust and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

Cash Mows
Carrying Contractual Within Within After
Note amount ecash flows lyear 1toSyears 5years
§'000 $'000 5000 5’000 §'000

Group
2018
Derivative financial
liabilities
Interest rate swaps 7 1,399 = T = =
- inflow - 19,500 6,314 13,186 -
- outflow - (23,909) (7,489) (16,420) -
Foreign exchange
forwards 7 42 - - - -
- inflow - 5,270 5,270 - -
- outflow - (5,334) (5,334) - -
1,441 (4,473) (1,239) (3,234) ~
1,196,560 (1,324,068) (140,397) (1,097,539)  (86,132)
2m7
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
JPY term loan facility 12 54,076 (55,513) (466) (55,047) -

SGD term loan facilities 12 450,000 (459,778) (258,658) (201,120) -
SGD revolving credit

facilities 12 3,000 (3,009)  (3,004) > =
Singapore MTNs 12 295000 (355417)  (9,948) (136319) (209,150)
Japan bond 12 9,832 (10,068) (55)  (10,013) =
Australia loans 12 219,846  (229,042) (160,120)  (68,922) %
Malaysia MTN 12 105157  (116446)  (4,740) (111,706)

Trade and other payables 10 63,125 (66,607)  (38,862)  (19,460)  (8,285)
1,200,036 (1,295,875) (475.853) (602,587) (217,435)

Derivative financial

liabilities
Interest rate swaps 7 3,833 - - - -
- inflow - 8,308 6,663 1,645 -
- outflow - (13,514)  (11,10T) (2,407) -
Foreign exchange

forwards 7 172 - - - -
- inflow - 9,621 0,621 -~ -
- outflow - (9.836) (9.836) - -

4,005 (5421) (4,659) (762)

1,204,041 (1,301,296) (480,512) (603,349) (217,435)
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Starhill Global Real Extate Investment Trusi and fis subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2118

Cash fows
Carrying Contractual Within Within After
Note amount cashflows 1year 1toSyears 5 years
5°000 5000 §'000 5’000 5’000

Trust

2018
Non-derivative financial
liabilities

JPY term loan facility 12 49933 (50,753) (4,711) (46,042) -

SGD term loan facilities 12 460,000 (504,815) (11,719)  (493,096) =

Intercompany loans 12 295,000 (345,469) (9,948) (257,819) (77,702)

Trade and other payables 10 44,856 (47,711) (24,374) (15,222) (8,115)
849,780 (948,748) (50,752) (812,179) (85.817)

Derivative financial
liabilities
Interest rate swaps 7 533 - - - -
- inflow - 6,959 1,789 5,170 -
- outflow - (10,211) (2,616) (7,595) -
Foreign exchange
forwards 7 5 - - - -
- inflow - 1,609 1,609 - o
- outflow = (1,619) (1,619) - =
538 (3,262) (837) (2,425) -
850,327 (952,010) (51,589) (814,604) (B5,817)
2017
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
JPY term loan facility 12 54,076 (55,513) {466} (55,047) -
SGD term loan facilities 12 450,000  (459,778) (258,658)  (201,120) -
SGD revolving credit
facilities 12 3,000 (3,004)  (3,004) o 5
Intercompany loans 12 205,000 (355417 (9,948) (136,319) (209,150)

Trade and other payables 10 45,557 (48,422)  (26,654)  (14,285) (7,483)
847,633 (922,134) (298,730) (406,771)  (216,633)

Derivative financial

liabilities
Interest rate swaps 7 2,613 - - -
- inflow - 3,281 2,805 476 -
- outflow - (6,873) (5,936) (937 -
Foreign exchange

forwards 7 135 - -
- inflow - 7.105 7,105 - -
- outflow - (7.271) (7,271) -

2,748 (3,758) (3,297) (461) -
850,381 (925,892) (302,027) (407,232) (216,633)

The maturity analyses show the undiscounted cash flows of the Group and the Trust's financial
liabilities on the basis of their contractual maturity.
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Starkill Global Real Estate Fnvestment Trust and its subsidiaries

Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018
Unitholders’ funds
Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
000 5000 $°000 $'000
Met assets attributable to
unitholders 2,034,854 2,051,817 1,915,431 1,939,961
Foreign currency translation
reserve @ (44,558) (42,471) -

1,990,296 2,009,346 1,915,431 1,939,961

' Included in the net assets attributable to unitholders is approximately $2.8 million (2017; $2.8 million)
retained to satisfy certain legal reserve requirements in China.

@ The foreign currency translation reserve comprises (i) the foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different
from the functional currency of the Trust; (ii) the transfer of translation differences arising from hedge
accounting; and (iii) the foreign exchange differences on monetary items which form part of the Group's
net investment in foreign operations.

Units in issue

Group and Trust
2018 2017
No, of units No. of units
000 000
At 1 July and 30 June 2,181,204 2,181,204

Each unit in the Trust represents an undivided interest in the Trust. The rights and interests of
unitholders are contained in the Trust Deed and include the right to:

e Attend all unitholders’ meetings. The Trustee or the Manager may (and the Manager shall at
the request in writing of not less than 50 unitholders or of the unitholders representing not less
than 10% of the issued units) at any time convene a meeting of unitholders in accordance with
the provisions of the Trust Deed;

e Receive income and other distributions attributable to the units held: and
e Participate in the termination of the Trust by receiving a share of all net cash proceeds derived
from the realisation of the assets of the Trust less any liabilities, in accordance with their

proportionate interests in the Trust. However, a unitholder does not have the right to require
that any assets (or part thereof) of the Trust be transferred to him.
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16.

Starkill Global Real Estate Investment Trust and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

The restrictions of a unitholder include the following;

e A unitholder’s right is limited to the right to require due administration of the Trust in
accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed; and

® A unitholder has no right to request the Trust to redeem his units while the units are listed on
SGX-ST.

The Trust Deed contains provisions that are designed to limit the liability of a unitholder to the
amount paid or payable for any units in the Trust. The provisions seek to ensure that if the issue
price of the units held by a unitholder has been fully paid, no such unitholder, by reason alone of
being a unitholder, will be personally liable to indemnify the Trustee or any creditor of the Trustee
in the event that liabilities of the Trust exceed its assets.

Gross revenue

Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
$000 5000 5000 $°000
Property rental income 204,088 208,595 125,225 128,310
Turnover rental income 2,154 2,882 1,942 1,732
Other income 2,572 4,887 2,569 4,438

208,814 216,364 129,736 134,480

Property operating expenses
Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
5’000 5000 $000 5000
Maintenance and sinking fund
contributions 7,018 7,043 6,926 6,926
Property management fees 5,581 5,778 3,873 4,060
Property tax 20,255 20,713 12,306 12,840
Depreciation expense 12 361 - 141
Leasing and upkeep expenses 10,929 11,959 1,767 1,820
Staff costs 109 769 - -
Marketing expenses 1,003 1,182 927 901
Impairment loss recognised on
trade receivables 379 162 235 -
Administrative expenses 1,251 1,509 715 830
46,627 49,476 26,749 27,518

) Represents staff costs of the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Chengdu Xin Hong Management Co.,
Lid.
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20.

Starhill Globml Real Estate Investimsemi Trusi and its subsidiaries
Finaneial statements
Year ended 30 Jume 2018

Dividend income from subsidiaries

Represents dividend income from certain subsidiaries (Note 6).

Management fees and performance fees

Management fees include Base Fee payable to the Manager, asset management fees payable to
the asset manager of the Japan Properties and fees payable to the servicer of the Malaysia
Properties, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Manager. Base Fee paid/payable to the
Manager for the year ended 30 June 2018 amounted to approximately $15,167,000 (2017:
$15,256,000). Approximately $69,000 (2017: $94,000) and $858,000 (2017: $842,000) were
paid/payable to the asset manager of the Japan Properties and servicer of the Malaysia Properties
for the year ended 30 June 2018 respectively.

The Manager has elected to receive 100% of its base management fees in cash for the years ended
30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017.

No performance fee was earned by the Manager for the years ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June

2017. The performance of the Trust Index was approximately 72% and 33% below the Benchmark
Index as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 respectively.

Trust expenses

Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
5’000 $°000 5000 $°000
Auditor’s remuneration 424 462 230 230
Trustee's fees 485 487 485 487
Others ¥ 2,884 2,593 1,814 2,041
3,793 3,542 2,529 2,758

" Included in other trust expenses are (i) non-audit fees paid/payable to the auditors of the Group of
approximately $150,000 (2017: $193,000); and (ii) fees paid/payable to the valuers of the Group's
investment properties of approximately $1638,000 (2017: $184,000) for the year ended 30 June 2018,

Finance expenses

Group Trust
2018 207 2018 2017
$'000 $°000 §'000 $°000
Interest on borrowings 32,527 32,222 20,421 20,176
Interest on derivatives (net) 3,005 4,476 1,948 3,368
Amortisation of borrowing costs 2,637 2232 1,854 1,512
38,259 38,930 24,223 25,056
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Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trast and its subsidiaries

Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018
Income tax
Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
7000 $'000 5000 5000
Current tax
Current year 3952 1,797 907 405
Deferred tax
Reversal of temporary differences (506) (3,065) - -
3,446 (1,268) 907 405
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Total return before tax and
distribution 87,690 08,986 77,584 81,583
Income tax using Singapore tax
rate of 17% (2017: 17%) 14,907 16,828 13,189 13,869
Net effect of different tax rates in
other countries 821 (420) - -
Withholding tax 3,956 1,915 907 405
Income not subject to tax (8,122) (7,797) (2,239) (2,999)
Non-deductible items 5,559 2,736 2,725 3.660
Tax transparency (13,675) (14,330) (13,675) (14,530)
3,446 (1,268) 207 405

 Included a reversal of prior period tax provision of approximately £0.1 million for the year ended 30
June 2017,

22.

Earnings per unit

Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
$°000 5000 $°000 5000
Earnings attributable to
unitholders 84,244 100,254 76,677 81,178
Basic earnings per unit (cents) 3.86 4.60 3.52 3.72
Earnings per unit on a fully
diluted basis (cents) 3.86 4.60 3.52 3.72

M In computing the basic and diluted earnings per unit, the eamings attributable to unitholders and the
weighted average number of units in issue of 2,181,204,435 (2017: 2,181,204,435) as at 30 June 2018
are used and have been calculated on a time-weighted basis,
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Starhill Global Real Estate fnvestment Trust and {is subsidiaries
Finanefal statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

Operating segments

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s portfolio of investment properties.
The investment properties are managed separately because they require different operating and
marketing strategies. This primary format is based on the Group’s internal reporting structure for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing performance by the senior management of the
Manager, which is the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) on a regular basis.
This forms the basis of identifying the operating segments of the Group under FRS 108 Operating
Segmenis.

All of the Group’s reportable segments are investment properties located in Singapore, Adelaide
and Perth-Australia, Kuala Lumpur-Malaysia, and others (consisting of China Property in
Chengdu and two (2017: three) properties in Tokyo, Japan). The segments are as follows:

Wisma Atria Property
Meee Ann City Property
Australia Properties
Malaysia Properties
Other Properties

Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly finance income, non-property
expenses, finance expenses and income tax expense.

Performance is measured based on the net property income of each operating segment, which is
the gross revenue less property operating expenses, as included in the internal management
reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CODM. Segment net property income is used to measure
performance as such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments
relative to other entities that operate within these industries. There are no transactions between
reportable segments.,

Segment assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that
can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly cash and cash
equivalents, derivative financial instruments, borrowings, income tax payable and deferred tax
liabilities. Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire
segment assets that are expected to be used for more than one year. Information regarding the
Group's reportable segments is presented in the tables below.
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24.

Starkill Global Real Estate Investment Trust and its subsidiaries
Finaneial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

Geographical segments

The Group’s operations and its identifiable assets are located in Singapore (consisting of Wisma
Atria Property and Ngee Ann City Property), Adelaide and Perth-Australia (consisting of Myer
Centre Adelaide, David Jones Building and Plaza Arcade), Kuala Lumpur-Malaysia (consisting
of Starhill Gallery and Lot 10 Property), and others (consisting of the China Property in Chengdu
and two (2017: three) properties in Tokyo, Japan). Accordingly, no geographical segmental
analysis is separately presented.

Major tenants

The four largest tenants located at Ngee Ann City Property, Malaysia Properties (including some
office leases at Singapore Properties), Myer Centre Adelaide and David Jones Building accounted
for approximately 21.6%, 15.1%, 7.0% and 4.8% of the Group's gross rent as at 30 June 2018

respectively.

Capital and financial risk management
Capital management

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to be prudent and optimise unitholders’ return
through a mix of available capital sources. The Group monitors capital on the basis of both the
gearing ratio and interest service coverage ratio and maintains them within the approved limits.
The Group assesses its capital management approach as a key part of the Group’s overall strategy,
and this is continuously reviewed by the Manager. The Group's gearing as at 30 June 2018 is
35.5% (2017: 35.3%) and the interest service coverage ratio for the year ended 30 June 2018 is
4.1 times (2017: 4.2 times).

The Trust has a corporate rating of BBB+ from Standard and Poor’s as at 30 June 2018 and
remained within the aggregate leverage limit of 45.0% stipulated by the Property Fund Appendix
during the current year,

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the current year.
Financial risk management
Overview

The Group’s returns are primarily from net operating income and capital appreciation of its assets.
However, these returns are exposed to financial risks including credit, liquidity, interest rate and
foréign currency risks. Where appropriate, the Manager may hedge against the volatility of
interest costs, foreign currency net income and foreign currency investments.

The Group has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable balance between the cost of
the financial risks occurring and the cost of managing these risks. The Manager continuously
monitors the Group's financial risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance
between risk and control is achieved. Financial risk management policies and systems are
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities.

The financial risk management policies contain the parameters and processes for managing these

risks, and define the roles and responsibilities of those who manage the process. The policies are
described in greater detail below.
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Starfiill Global Real Estate Invesiment Trust and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a tenant or a counterparty to
settle its financial and contractual obligations to the Group, as and when they fall due.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Group's and the Trust’s respective

maximum exposure to credit risk, before taking into account any collateral held. The maximum
exposure to credit risk by type of financial assets at the reporting date was:

Group Trust
Note 2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $°000 5’000 $°000
Derivative financial instruments 7 2,208 126 2,206 104
Trade and other receivables 8 3,518 5,629 2,645 1,794
Cash and cash equivalents L 66,730 76,603 20,420 30,493
72,456 82,358 25,271 32,391

The Group has established credit procedures for its tenants, obtains security deposits and/or bank
guarantees (where applicable), and monitors their balances on an ongoing basis, Where
applicable, credit evaluations are performed by the Group before lease agreements are entered
into with tenants.

The tenant profile of the Group is generally well-diversified, except for four (2017: four) largest
tenants (Note 23), which accounted for approximately 48.5% (2017: 46.1%) of the Group's gross
rent as at 30 June 2018.

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with financial institutions which are regulated and have sound
credit ratings. Given these sound credit ratings, the Group does not expect any counterparty to
fail to meet its obligations.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate to finance its operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
Group ensures that it has si#ficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a
reasonable period, including the servicing of financial obligations. Asat 30 June 2018, the Group
has undrawn and committed long-term revolving credit facilities of up to $190 million (2017:
$200 million) and cash and cash equivalents of approximately $66.7 million (2017: $76.6
million).

In addition, the Group also monitors and observes the Property Fund Appendix issued by MAS
concerning limits on total borrowings.

FS48
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Starkill Global Real Estate Investment Trust and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

Fareign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from its investments in Australia, Malaysia,
China and Japan. The income generated from these investments and net assets are denominated
in foreign currencies, mainly Australian Dollar (*A$"), Ringgit Malaysia (“RM™), Chinese
Renminbi (“RMB”) and Japanese Yen (“JPY™).

The Group’s exposures to various foreign currencies (expressed in Singapore dollar equivalent),
which relate primarily to its net foreign currency investments as at balance sheet date are as
follows:

AS RM RMB JPY Total
5000 $'000 5000 $7000 5000
Group
2018
Met balance sheet exposure 323,478 259,215 29,646 13,347 625,686
2017
Net balance sheet exposure 343,724 258,787 30,006 8,702 641,219

The Trust’s exposures to various foreign currencies (expressed in Singapore dollar equivalent),
which relate primarily to its financial instruments as at balance sheet date are as follows:

AS RM RMB JPY Total

5000 57000 57000 £'000 5000
Trust
2018
Net balance sheet exposure 1,602 - - (41,719)  (40,117)
2017
Met balance sheet exposure 14,613 - - (52,209)  (37,396)
Income hedging

Approximately 62% (2017: 62%) of the Group’s revenue is derived in Singapore dollars for the
year ended 30 June 2018. The Group has used a combination of local currency denominated loans
and short-term foreign exchange forward contracts to partially hedge its overseas net income.

The Group continues to proactively monitor the exchange rates and may use more foreign
exchange forward contracts or other suitable financial derivatives to hedge the impact of exchange
rate fluctuations on the distributions to unitholders, where appropriate.

FS49
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Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trust and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 Jume 2018

Capital hedging

In managing the currency risks associated with the capital values of the Group’s overseas assets,
borrowings are denominated in the same currency as the underlying assets to the extent feasible,
to provide a natural currency hedge. As the investments in overseas assets are generally long-term
in nature, the remaining net positions of the foreign exchange risk on such investments are not
hedged.

Hedge of a net investment in Japan

As at 30 June 2018, the Group's investment in its Japan subsidiary is hedged by a JPY-
denominated unsecured bank loan with a carrying amount of JPY4.05 billion ($49.9 million)
which mitigates the currency risk arising from the subsidiary’s net assets. The loan is designated
as a net investment hedge.

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% strengthening of the Singapore dollar against the following currencies at the reporting date

would increasef(decrease) unitholders’ funds by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes
that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

Group Trust
$°000 §'000
2018
AS (32,348) (160)
RM (25,922) -
RMB (2,964) =
JPY (1,335) 4,172
Financial derivatives
- A% 466 466
- RM 507 -
2017
A% (34,372) (1,461)
RM (25,879) -
FMB (3,001) -
JPY (870) 5,221
Financial derivatives
- A% 1,225 1,225
- RM 609 -

A 10% weakening of the Singapore dollar against the above currencies would have had the equal
but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other
variables remain constant,

Interest rate risk

In order to protect the Group’s eamnings from the volatility in interest rates and provide stability

to unitholders’ returns, the Group may hedge a portion of its interest rate exposure within the
short to medium term by using fixed rate debt and interest rate derivatives.

FS850
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Starkifl Global Real Estate Investrment Trust and its subsidiaries
Financial sigtements
Year ended 30 June 2018

The Group has hedged approximately 96% (2017: 99%) of its debt as at 30 June 2018 using a
combination of derivative financial instruments and fixed rate debt. The weighted average
interest rate was approximately 3.13% (2017: 3.16%) per annum as at 30 June 2018.

As at 30 June 2018, the Group has largely hedged its exposure to changes in interest rates on its
variable rate borrowings by entering into the following contracts:

(i) Interest rate swaps, with a notional contract amount of $625 million (2017: $375 million)
and A$208 million (2017: A$208 million), whereby it receives a variable rate equal to the
Singapore swap offer rate and Australia bank bill swap bid rate on the notional amount and
pays a fixed interest rafe ranging from 1.23% to 2.41% (2017: 1.23% to 2.43%) per annum.

(ii) Interest rate caps, with a notional contract amount of JPY6.3 billion and A$63 million (2017:
JPY6.3 billion, A$63 million and $100 million), whereby the benchmark interest rates are
capped ranging from 1.0% to 5.5% (2017; 1.0% to 5.5%) per annum.

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 1% in interest rate at the reporting date would increase/(decrease) total return by the
amounts shown below, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on variable rate
borrowings that are not hedged by interest rate swaps and caps, and changes in fair value of the
interest rate derivatives. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign
currency rates, remain constant,

Total return
1% increase 1% decrease
s!‘m s?m
Group
2018
Variable rate instruments (890) 356
Financial derivatives 18,197 (17.,655)
17,307 (17,299)
2017
Variable rate instruments (1,234) 596
Financial derivatives 6,602 (5,744)
5,368 (5,148)
Trust
2018
Variable rate instruments (806) 350
Financial derivatives 13,149 (12,621)
12,343 (12,271)
2017
Variable rate instruments (1.136) 590
Financial derivatives 4,347 (3,437)
3211 (2,847)
F§51
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Starfill Global Real Extate Investment Trust and ifs subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

Measurement of fair values

Financial derivatives

The fair values of financial derivatives are estimated based on banks’ quotes. These quotes are
largely tested for reasonableness by discounting estimated future cash flows based on terms and
maturity of each contract and using market rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date.
Other financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year
(including trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables)
are assumed to approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity.

Other non-derivative financial liabilities are measured at fair value at initial recognition and for
disclosure purposes, at each reporting date. Fair value is calculated based on the present value of
future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the
measurement date, Other non-derivative financial liabilities include interest-bearing borrowings
and trade and other payables.

Fair value hierarchy

The different levels of the fair value hierarchy have been defined as follows:

e Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

e Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

F852
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25.

26.

27.

Starkill Global Real Estare Investment Trust and ity subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

Operating leases

The Group leases out its investment properties, Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are
receivable as follows:

Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
57000 5000 $000 5000
Within one vear 185,833 187,821 121,215 122,705
Between one and five years 402,079 417,156 290,946 271,155
More than five years 266,794 343,997 87,719 133,981
854,706 048,974 499 880 527,841

Capital commitments

Capital commitments (contracted but not provided) as at 30 June 2018 of approximately $4.3
million relates mainly to capital expenditure, professional fees and asset redevelopment works in
relation to the Group's investment properties (2017: $12.5 million mainly for asset redevelopment
works on Plaza Arcade and Lot 10 Property).

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if
the Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant
influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the
Group and the party are subject to common significant influence. Related parties may be
individuals or other entities.

Other than related party information shown elsewhere in the financial statements, the following
were significant related party transactions carried out in the normal course of business:

Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
5’000 5000 $°000 $'000
Property rental income from the
Manager and Property Manager 1,017 1,058 1,017 1,058
Property rental income from
related parties of the Manager 29 045 28,545 1,178 1,205
Leasing commission fees paid to
the Property Manager (663) (863) (663) (863)
Property management fees paid to
the Property Manager (3,873) (4,060) (3,873) (4,060)

F857
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28.

29.

Management fees paid to the
Manager

Divestment fee paid to the
Manager

Trustee fees paid to the Trustee

Reimbursements paid to the
Property Manager

Asset redevelopment fees paid to
related party of the Manager

Servicer fees paid to a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the
Manager

Starhill Global Real Estate Tnvestiment Trust and fts subsidiaries

Financtal statements
Year ended 30 June 2018
Group Trust
2018 2017 2018 2017
s'000 5000 $'000 000
(15,167) (15,256) (15,167) (15,256)
(32) (25) {32) (25)
(485) (487) (485) (487)
(665) (309) (665) (809)
(3,556) (3,013) - _
(858) {342} - -

) Comprises fees paid/payable to related party of the Manager for acting as turnkey contractor to carry
out the asset redevelopment works at Lot 10 Property.

Subsequent events

Subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2018:

(a) In July 2018, the Group has prepaid JPY350 million loan using the net proceeds from the
divestment of Nakameguro Place in May 2018.

(b) 1In July 2018, the Group has refinanced its A$63 million secured loan for five years with the
same bank ahead of its maturity in June 2019.

(c) The Manager declared a distribution of 1.09 cents per unit in respect of the period from 1
April 2018 to 30 June 2018, which was paid on 29 August 2018.

Financial ratios

Group
2018 2017
ﬂﬁ %
Ratio of expenses to weighted average net assets ! 0.99 0.98
Portfolio turnover rate @ 0.32 0.25

) The ratio is computed in accordance with guidelines of the Investment Management Association of
Singapore. The expenses used in the computation relate to expenses of the Group and exclude property
related expenses, finance expenses and the performance component of the Manager's fees.

@) The ratio is computed based on the lesser of purchases or sales of underlying investment properties of
the Group expressed as a percentage of weighted average net asset value.

FS58
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30.

Starkill Global Real Extate Investmeni Trust and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

New accounting standards, interpretations and amendments not yet
adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been issued
as of the balance sheet date but are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2018 have not
been applied in preparing these financial statements.

These new standards include, among others, FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
FRS 109 Financial Instruments and FRS 116 Leases. FRS 115 and FRS 109 which are effective
for the Group on 1 July 2018, and FRS 116 on 1 July 2019.

Applicable to 2019 financial statements
FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Cusiomers

FRS 115 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when
revenue is recognised. It also introduces new cost guidance which requires certain costs of
obtaining and fulfilling contracts to be recognised as separate assets when specified criteria are
met. When effective, FRS 115 replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including FRS 18
Revenue, FRS 11 Construction Contracts, INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes, INT
FRS 115 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, INT FRS 118 Transfers of Assets from
Customers and INT FRS 31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

The Group plans to adopt the standard for the year ending 30 June 2019, and does not expect the
impact on the financial statements from the adoption of this standard to be significant.

FRS 109 Financial Instruments

FRS 109 replaces most of the existing guidance in FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. It includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial
instruments, a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and
new general hedge accounting requirements.

FRS 109 replaces the current “incurred loss™ model with a forward-looking expected credit loss
(“*ECL") model in relation to impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair
value through other comprehensive income, except for investments in equity instruments.

The Group plans to adopt the simplified approach under FRS 109 for the year ending 30 June
2019 by applying lifetime ECL measurement in relation to the impairment of its loans and
receivables, and does not expect the impact on the financial statements from the adoption of this
standard to be significant.

Applicable to 2020 financial statements

FRS 116 Leases

FRS 116 eliminates the lessee’s classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases
and introduces a single lessee accounting model. Applying the new model, a lessee is required to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months,
unless the underlying asset is of low value.

F559
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Krarfiill Global Real Estate Investrens Trust and its subsidiaries

Fimancial statements
Year ended 30 June 2018

FRS 116 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in FRS 17 Leases.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to
account for these two types of leases using the FRS 17 operating lease and finance lease
accounting models respectively. However, FRS 116 requires more extensive disclosures to be

provided by a lessor. When effective, FRS 116 replaces existing lease accounting guidance,
including FRS 17 and related interpretations.

The Group is currently assessing the potential impact of adopting this standard and plans to adopt
this for the year ending 30 June 2020.

FS60
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APPENDIX IV
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF STARHILL GLOBAL REIT AND
ITS SUBSIDIARIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

The information in this Appendix IV has been extracted and reproduced from the audited financial
statements of Starhill Global REIT and its Subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 and has
not been specifically prepared for inclusion in this Information Memorandum.
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Stariiill Global Real Estate fuvestment Trast and ity subsidiarvies
Report of the Trustee
Year ended 30 June 2019

Report of the Trustee

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore} Limited (the “Trustee™) is under a duty to take into
custody and hold the assets of Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trust (the “Trast”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group™) in trust for the unitholders. In accordance with the Securities and
Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, its subsidiary legislation and the Code on Cellective
Invesiment Schemes, the Tyustce shall monitor the activities of YTL Starhill Global REIT
Management Limiled (the “Manager™} for compliance with the limitations imposed on the
investment and horrowing powers as set out im the trust deed dated 8 August 2005, as
supplemented by a first supplemental deed dated 20 April 2006, an amended and restated deed
dated 8 August 2007, a second amended and restated deed dated 10 December 2007, a second
supplemental deed dared 22 April 2010, a third supplemental deed dated 7 June 2014, a fourth
supplemental deed dated 17 March 2014, a third amending and restating deed dated 4 Augnst
2016 and a fifth supplemental deed dated 27 October 2017 (the “Trust Deed”) between the
Manager and the Truslee in each annual accounting pertod and report thereon to unitholders in an
annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Trustee, the Marager has, in all material respects, managed the
Group during the vear ended 30 June 2019 covered by these financial staterments, set out on pages
FS1 to F860 in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers
set out in the Trust Deed.

For and on behalf of the Trustee,
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited

LA

Authorised Signatory

Singapore
29 August 2019
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Starhill Global Real Estate fnvestient Trust and its subsidiaries
Statement by the Monager
Year ended 30 June 2019

Statement by the Manager

In the opinion of the directors of YTL Startall Global REIT Management Limited (the
“Manager”), the accompanying financial statements set out on pages FS1 1o FS560, comprising
the balance sheets, statements of total rewurn, distribution slatements and statements of movements
in unitholders® funds of the Group and of the Trust, the investment properties portfolio statement
and cash flow statement of the Group and a summary of significant accounting pelicies and other
explanatory information, ave drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position
of Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Frust {the *Trust™ and its subsidiaries {the “Group™) as
at 30 June 2019, the total return, distributable income and movements in unitholders’ funds of the
Group and the Trust, and the cash flows of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2019 in
accordance with the recommendations of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 7
"Reporting Framework for Unit Trusis” issued by the Institite of Singapore Chartered
Accountants and the provisions of the Trust Deed. At the date of this statement, there are
reasonable grounds to believe that the Group and the Trust will be able 1o meet its financial
obligations as and when they materialise.

For and on behalf of the Manager,
YTL Starhill Global REIT Management Limited

Hoe Sing

Director

Singapore
29 August 2019
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! i KPMG LLP Telephona +66 6213 3358
16 Raffles Cluay #22-00 Fax +65 6225 0984
. Hong Leong Building Intermat W, KpIng.ComLsg

Singapore 048581

Independent auditors’ report

Unitholders of Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trust
(Constituted in the Republic of Singapore pursuant to a Trust Deed dated 8 August 2005
(as amended))

Report on the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trust (the
“Trust”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheet and
investment properties portfolio statement of the Group and the balance sheet of the Trust as at
30 June 2019, and the statements of total return, distribution statements, statements of movements
in unitholders’ funds of the Group and the Trust, and the cash flow statement of the Group for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies, as set out on pages FS1 to FS60.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the financial
statements of the Trust present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and portfolio
holdings of the Group and financial position of the Trust as at 30 June 2019, and the total return,
distributable income and movements in unitholders’ funds of the Group and the Trust, and the
cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with the recommendations
of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice (“"RAP") 7 “Reporting Framework for Unit
Trusts” issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code™) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.



Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trost and fis subsidiaries

Independent auditors® report
Year ended 30 June 2019

KPMG

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties
(Refer to Note 4 to the financial statements)

Risk:

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s investment properties portfolio comprises 10 properties which
amounted to $3,065 million (2018: $3,118 million) representing 98% (2018: 98%) of the Group's
total assets.

The fair values of the investment properties were determined by external valuers using valuation
techniques such as the capitalisation approach and/or discounted cash flow method.

The valuation process involves significant judgement in determining the appropriate valuation
methodology to be used, and in estimating the underlying assumptions to be applied. The
valuations are highly sensitive to key assumptions applied in deriving the capitalisation and
discount rates i.c. a small change in the assumptions may have a significant impact to the
valuation.

Our response:

We assessed the Group’s processes for the selection of the external valuers, the determination of
the scope of work of the valuers, and the review and acceptance of the valuations reported by the
external valuers. We also assessed the competency, capability and objectivity of these valuers.

We considered the valuation methodologies used against those applied by other valuers for similar
property type. We held discussions with the valuers and challenged the key assumptions applied,
including capitalisation and discount rates, by comparing them to market comparables, historical
data and available industry data.

Qur findings:

The Group has a process for appointing and instructing valuers, and in reviewing, challenging
and accepting their valuations. The valuers are members of generally-recognised professional
bodies for valuers and have considered their own independence in carrying out their work.

The valuation methodologies used are comparable to methods used in the prior year and those

used for similar property types. The key assumptions applied are comparable to the historical
trends and within the range of available market comparables.
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Starhill Global Real Estate Investment Trust and ifs subsidiaries
Independent auditors' report
Year ended 30 June 2019

KPMG!

Other information

YTL Starhill Global REIT Management Limited, the Manager of the Trust (“the Manager™), is
responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other information is defined
as all information in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report.
We have obtained all other information prior to the date of this auditors” report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Manager for the financial statements

The Manager is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with the recommendations of RAP 7 issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants, and for such internal control as the Manager determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Manager is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager either intends to terminate the
Group or to cease operations of the Group, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Manager's responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditors ' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Starkill Global Real Estate Investiment Trust and ity subsidiaries
Independent auditors " repart
Year ended 30 June 2019

KPMG

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Manager.

s Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concem.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Manager regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Manager with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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Starhill Global Real Estate Investmeni Trusi and its sabsidiaries
Independent auditors " report
Year ended 30 June 2019

mSpAR

From the matters communicated with the Manager, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless the law or regulations
preclude public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Eng Chin
Chin.

ANG Ur

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountanis

Singapore
29 August 2019
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Balance sheets
As at 30 June 2019

Non-curreat assets

Tnvestment properties

Plant and equipment

Interests in subsidiaries
Derivative financial instroments

Current assefs

Derivative financial instiments
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Derivative financial instruments
Daferred tax liabilities
Borrowings

Current Habilities

Trade and other payables
Derjvative financial instruments
Income fax payable

Borrowings

Total liabilities
Net assets

Represented by:
Unitholders® funds

Units in issue (*000)
Net asset value per unit {3}
based on:
- Units issnad at the end of the
year

Note

~1 L R

o e ~d

10

11
12

iz

13

Starhill Global Reol Estate Investinent Traxt and its subsidiaries
Financigl statements

Year ended 30 June 2019
Group Trust
2419 20138 2019 2618
5000 $'004 000 $*000

3,064,861 3,118,338 2,116,000 2,147,000
26 42 - -
- — 576,915 590,224
— 1,964 — 1,964
3,064 887 3,120,344 2692015 2,739,188
302 244 302 242
3,846 4,191 4,871 2,929
72,946 66,730 11,517 20,420
77,094 71,165 16,690 23,591
3,141,981 3,191,509 2,709,605 2,762,775
26,581 22,460 20,467 20,549
11,432 1,242 4,685 453
6,168 6,336 — -
1004271 1,066,931 799037 801,954
1,048,452 1,096,96% 824,189 §22.956
32,401 38,633 23,811 24,307
- 199 - B3
3,180 2,014 - -
127,837 63,398 20,000 —
163,508 104,244 43 811 24,392
1,211,960 1,201,213 868,000 347,348
1,930,021 1,990,296 1,841,605 1,915,431
1,930,021 1,990,296 1,841,605 1,915431

2,181,204 2,181,204 2,181,204 2,181,204
0.88 0.91 .84 0.88

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Starkill Globol Real Estate Iivestmeni Trust and its subsiitories

Financitd stafements
Year ended 30 June 2019
Statements of tutal return
Yeay ended 30 June 2019
Group Trust
Note 2019 2018 2019 2013
$600 $000 £2000 $2600
{3ross revenue 15 206,190 20%,814 127,148 129,736
Property operating expenses 16 {46,784} (48,627) {26,868} {26,749)
Net property income 159406 162,187 100,280 102,987
Inierest income from fixed
deposits and bank balances 956 900 106 151
Interest income from subsidiaries - - 5,677 6,022
Dividend incoms from subsidiaries 17 - - 6,980 17,557
Management fees 18 {15,846} (16,094) {14,936) (13,167}
Performance fees i8 - - - -
Trust expenses 19 (4,684) (4,123) (3,469} {2,540
Finance expenses 20 (38,657 (35,259) (25,284) (24,223}
101,135 104,611 69,354 84,787
Change in fair value of derivative
mstruments (11,932) 4,467 (6,032) 4194
Foreign exchange gainfloss) 178 134 (5,755) (8,501)
Change in fair value of investment
properties 4 €20,313) {22,669) (32,041} (1,496)
(Gain on divestment of inveshment
preperty & - 1,147 - -
Timpainment foss on investment in
subsidiaries 6 - - {1,000 {1,400)
Total return for the vear before tax
and distribution 69,066 87,690 24,526 77,584
Income tax 21 {3,479 (3,446) (852) (907}
TFotal retern for the year after
tax, hefore distribution 63,587 84,244 23,674 76,677
Non-tax deductible items and other
adjpstments 35,732 15,892 77,645 26,459
Income available for distribution 101,319 103,136 101,319 103,136
Earnings per unit {cents)
Basic 22 3.01 3.86 1.09 3352
Diluted 22 3.01 3.85 1.09 3.52

Nuote:

' Represents the difference bstween the net proceeds {imcluding directly aitributable costs) from
divestment and the carrying amount of Nakameguro Place in May 2018.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financia! statements.
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Starkill Global Real Estare fnivestatent Trust and ix subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 Fune 201 ¢

Distribution statements

Ycar ended 36 June 2019
Group Trust
2019 2018 2619 2618
$'000 £°600 000 $°0060
Income avaiiable for distribution at
the beginning of the year 51,414 46,485 51,414 49 485
Total return afier tax, hefore distribution 63,587 84,244 23,674 76,677
Net tax and other adjustments
(Note A below) 35,732 18,852 77,645 26,459
Inceme available for distribution 152,733 152,621 152,733 152,621

Distributions during the year:
Unitholders

Distribution of 1.09 cenis
(2017: 1.18 cents) per unit for the period
1 Aprii 20 30 June 2018 (23,775) (25,738) (23,775) (25,738)
Distribution of 1.15 cenis
{2017: 1.20 cents) per unit for the period
1 July to 30 September 2018 (25,084) (26,174) {25,084) (26,174
Distribution of 1.13 cents
(2017 1.17 cenis) per unit for the period
1 Qctaber to0 31 December 2018 (24,648) {25,520} (24,648} (25,5200
Distribution of 1.10 cents
{2018: 1.0% cents) per uail for the period
1 Japuary to 31 March 2019 {23,993) (23,775) (23,993 (23.773)

(97.500)  (101,267) (97.500) (10,207

Facome available for distribution
at the ¢nd of the vear 55,233 51,414 35233 51.414

The accompanying notes form an integra? part of these financial statements.
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Starhill Global Real Estate Investinent Trust and its subsidiaries

Firancial staterients
Year ended 30 Funz 2019
BDistribution statemenis {(continued)
Yeur ended 30 June 2019
Group Trust
2019 2018 2619 2018
5400 $'900 $'000 £20060
Number of units a1 end of the year (F000) 2,181,204 2,181,204 2,181,204 2,181,204
Distribution per unit for the year (cents) 4.48 455 448 4,55
Naie 4 — Net tax and other adjustments
Non-tax deductible/{chargeable) iteras and
other adjustments:
- Finance costs 582 1,304 348 1,857
-~ Sinking fund contribution 1,678 1,808 1,678 1,808
- Change in fair value of derivative
mstruaments 12,189 (4,467) 6,254 {4,194)
- Change in fair value of investment
properties 20,315 22,669 32,041 1,496
- Deferred tax 108 {506) - -
- Impairment loss on investment in
subsidiaries - — 1,000 1,400
- Foreign exchange loss/{gain) 72 (G19) 5,915 8,336
-~ Other items . 788 {1,597} 3,681 2,037
- Net overseas income not distributed
to the Trust, net of amount received — - 26,228 13,719
Net tax and other adjustments - 35,732 18,892 77,645 26,459

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Starkill Giobal Real Estate lnvesiment Trust aad s subsidiaries

Financial statemenis

Year ended 30 Jure 2019
Statements of movements in nnitholders” funds
Year ended 30 June 2019
Group Trust
2019 2018 2019 2018
$00G 5005 000 $7060
Unithelders® fands at the beginning
of the year 1,990,296 2,008,346 1,915,431 1,932,961
Operations
Change in unitholders’ funds resulting
from operations, before distributions 63,587 R4,244 2367 76,677
Increase it unitholders” funds resulting
from operations 65,587 84,244 23,674 76,677

Foreign currency translation reserve

Translation differences from financial
statements of fereign entities (24,594) 2,002

Transfer of translation differences from
total return arising from hedge
accounting (877) {158}

Exchange differences on monetary items
forming part of net investment in

(97,500)  (101207) |

(97.500)  (101,207)

1,841,605 1915431

foreign operalions (2,891) (3,931)
Net logs recoguised directly in unitholders®

funds (28,362} £2,087)
Unitholders® fransactions
Distributions to unitholders I (97,5000 (101,207)
Decrease in unitholders' funds reguiting

from nnitholders” wransactions (97,500) (101,207
Unitholders® Tunds at the end

of the year 1,930,021 1,990,296
Note:

) The Growp designated its JPY loan as a pet investment hedge for its Japan operations.
Correspondingly, the foreign currency differences on the JPY loan was reclassified to the Group’s
foreign currency transiation reserve, offsetting the translation differences arising from the Group’s

Japan operations.

The accompanying notes form #n integral part of these financial statements.
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Starkill Global Real Esrate Investment Trust and ¥s subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2019

Investment properties portfolio statement (continued)
As at 30 June 2019

Notes:

3

2}

3}

@

®

&)

&

L))

@

{o)

in

David Jones Building, Plaza Arcade amd Myer Centre Adelaide (the “Australiz Properties™) were
acquired on 20 January 2010, ¥ March 2013 and 18 May 2015 respectively,

Starhill Gallery and Lot 1) Property (the “Malaysia Properties™) were acquired on 28 June 2010,
China Properfy was acquired on 28 Angust 2007.

The Japan Properties comprise two properties as at 30 June 2019. Dalkanyama and Ebisu Fort were
acquired on 30 May 2007 and 26 September 2007 respectively,

The valuation of the Trust’s Wisma Atriz Property and Ngee Ann City Property were based on the
vajuation performed by Savills Valuation And Professional Services (S) Pte Ltd as at 30 June 2019,

Based on the valuation performed by Valuation Services (SA} Pty Ltd trading as Knight Frank
Valuations as at 30 June 2019 and translated at the exchange rate of A$1.05 . $1.00 (2018: A$0.99 :
$1.00).

Based on the valuation performed by Savills Valnations Pty Lid as at 30 June 2019 and translated at
the exchange rate of A51.05 : $1.00 (2018: A%0.99 : $1.00).

Based on the valuation performed by IVPS Property Consultant Sdn Bhd as at 30 June 2019 and
translated at the exchange rate of RM2.06 : $1.00 (2018: RM2.96 : $1.00).

Based on the valuation performed by Cushman & Wakefield Limited as at 30 Jane 2019 and translated
at the exchange rate of RMB3.08 : $1.00 (2018: RMB4.86 : $1.00).

Based on the vakuation performed by CBRE K K. as at 30 June 2019 and translated at the exchange
rate of JPY 79,58 : $1.00 (2018: JPY8L.11: $1.00).

Based on commenced leases as at 30 June 2019,

The Manager believes that the above independent valuers have appropriate professional
gualifications and experience in the location and category of the Group’s investment properties
being valued. Full valuations of the above properties were performed as at year-end.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
Year ended 30 June 2019

Cash flows from operating activiics
Total refurn for the year before tax and distribution

Adjustments for:

Finance income

Depreciation

Finance expenses

Gain on divestment of investment property
Plant and equipment written off

Change in fair value of derivative instnuments
Foreign exchange gain

Change in fair value of investment properties
Operating income before working capital changes
Trade and other receivables

Trade and other payables

Income tax paid

Net eash from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Net proceeds on divestment of investment property
Capital expendifure on investment propertiss
Purchase of plant and equipment

Interest received on deposits

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from fizancing activities
Borrowing costs paid

Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Disiribations paid to unitholders

Net cash nsed in financing activities

Net increasef{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eguivalents at the beginning of the year

Effects of exchange rate differences on cash
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

MNote:

Year ended 30 June 2019
Grounp
2819 28
$°000 $000
65,066 87,650
(958) (900)
15 12
38,697 38,259
— (1,147)
- f
11,932 (4.467)
{178) {134)
20,313 22,669
138,891 141,588
(1,321) 568
(1,349) 2211
(2,256) (4,433)
133,965 135,912
— 6,206
(7,673) (13,7023
(1) -
958 890
(6,7163 {6,506)
(37,759} (39,094)
81,600 482,000
(65,87%) (480,791}
(97,5060 (101,207}
{118,538) (132,092)
7711 (9,786)
65,730 76,603
(1,495) (87)
72,946 66,730

0} Net cash inflows on divestment of Nakameguro Place representing the sale proceeds, net of directly

attribntable costs paid in May 2018,

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Starhill Global Real Estate Investiwent Trust and ifs subsidiaries
Financial statements
Yaar ended 30 Jure 2019

Notes to the financial statements
These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Manager and the Trustee on 29 August
2019,

General

Starhili Global Real Estate Investment Trust (the “Trust™) is a Singapore-domiciled unit trost
constituted pursuant to the trust deed dated 8 August 2005 and any amendments or modifications
thereof between YTL Starhill Global BEIT Management Limited (the “Manager™) and HSBC
Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited (the “Trustee™), governed by the laws of the
Republic of Singapore {*“Trust Deed™). On 8 August 2005, the Trust was declared an authorised
usit frust scheme under the Trustees Act, Chapter 337.

The Trust was formally admitted to the Official List ofthe Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (*SGX-8T™) on 20 September 2005 and was approved to be included under the Central
Provident Fund (“CPF™} Ervestment Scheme on 14 June 2005,

For financial reporting purpose, Starhill Glebal Real Estate Investment Trust is regarded as a
subsidiary of YTL Corporation Berhad. Accordingly, the vltimate holding company is Yech
Tiong Lay and Sons Family Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in Jersey.

The principal activity of the Trust and its subsidiaries (the “Group™) is to invest primarily in prime
real estate used mainly for retail and/or office purposes, with the objective of delivering regular
and stable distributions to unitholders and to achieve long-ferm growth in the net assef value per
unit.

The Trust has entered into several significant service agreements in relation to the management
of the Group and its aperations. The fee structure of these services is as follows:

(a) Property management fees and leasing commission
YL Starhili Global Property Management Pte. Ltd. (the “Property Manager™) is entitled to
receive a fee of 3.0% per annum of gross revenue of the Wisma Atria Property and Ngee
Ann City Property (“Singapore Propertics™) (excluding GST) for the provision of property
management, lease management as well as marketing and marketing co-ordination services.

The Property Manager’s fee is to be paid on a monthly basis in arrears.

The Property Manager is also entitled to receive leasing commission at the rates set out
below when it secures a tenant or a tenancy repewal:

(i} one month’s base rental for securing a tenancy of three vears or more;

(it) two thirds of one month’s base rental for securing a tenancy of two years or more but
less than three years;

F&9
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Stariill Globod Renl Estate fnvesiment Trust and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 30 June 2079

(iil) one third of one month’s base rental for sccuring a tenancy of one year or more but less
than two years;

{iv) one guarter of ene month’s hase rental for securing a renewal of tenancy of three years
OT more;

{v) one eighth of one month’s base rental for securing a renewal of tenancy of two years
ot more but less than three years; and

(vi) one twelfth of one month’s base rental for sceuring a renewal of tenancy of one year or
more but less than two years.

Property management fees also include fees payable mainly to third party property managers
of the Australia Properties and Japan Properties.

Management fees

Management fees include fees payable to the Manager, third party asset manager of the Japan
Propurties, as well as servicer of the Malaysia Properties.

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to receive a hase fee and a perfonmance fee
as follows:

Base fee

The Manager is entitled to receive a base fee of ¢.5% per annum of the Value of Trust
Property {excluding GST) (“Base Fee™) or such higher percentage as may be fixed by an
Extraordinary Resolution of a meeting of unithoiders.

The Value of Trust Property means:
(i) the value ofall authorised investments of the Group other than real estaie refated assets;

(ii) the value of real estate related assets of any entity held by the Group if such holding is
less than 30.0% of the equity of such entity; and

(iil} where the Growp invests in 30.0% or more of a real estate related asset of any entity,
including any class of equity, equity-linked securities and/or securitics issued in real
estate securitisation, the Group’s proportionate interest in the value of the underlying
rcal estate of the entity issuing the equity which comprises the real estate related asset.

The Manager may opt to receive the Base Fee in respect of its properties in cash or units or
a combination of cash and units (as it may determine).

The portion of the Base Fee payable in cash shail be payable monthly in arrears and the
portion of the Base Fee payable in the form of units shall be payable quarterly in arrears. If
a trigger event occurs, resulting in the Manager being removed, the Manager is entitled to
be paid the Base Fee up to the day on which the trigger event occurs.

Performance fee

The Manager is entitled to a performance fee (“Performance Fec™) where the accumulated
return (comprising capital gains and accumuiated distributions and asseming all distributions
are re-invested in the Trust) of the units (expressed as the “Trust Index™) in any financial
year exceeds the accumulated return (comprising capital gains and accumulated distributions
and assuming re-investment of all distributions) of a benchmark index.
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Financial statements
Year ended 30 hae 2019

The Performance Fee is calculated in two fiers as follows;

¢ aTier | Performance Fee equal to 5.0% of the amount by which the accumutlated return
of the Trust Index exceeds the accumulafed return of the benchmark index, multiplied
by the equity market capitalisation of the Trust; and

o g Tier 2 Performance Fes which is applicable only where the accumulated return of the
Trost Index is in excess of 2.0% per annum above the accumulated refumn of the
benchmark index. This tier of the fee is caleulated at 15.0% of the amount by which the
accumnlated rcturn of the Trust Index is in excess of 2.0% per annum above the
accumuiated refwn of the benchmark index, multiphied by the equity market
capitalisation of the Trust,

For the purposes of the Tier 1 Performance Fee and the Tier 2 Performance Fee, the amount
by which the accumulated return of the Trust Index excesds the accumulated return of the
benchimark index shall be referred to as outperformance.,

The putperformance of the Trust Index is assessed on a cumulative basis and any prior
underperformance will need to be recovered before the Manager is entitled to any
Performance Fee.

The Petformance Fee, whether payable in any combination of ¢ash and units er solely in
cash or units will be payable annually in wrears. If a trigger event oceurs in any financial
year, resulting in the Manager being removed, the Manager is entitled to payment of any
Performance Fee (whether structured in cash or in the form of units) to which it might
otherwise have been entitled for that financial year in cash, which shall be calculated, as if
the end of the financial year was the date of occurrence of the trigger event, in accordance
with Clause 15.1.4 of the Trust Deed. If a trigger event occurs at a time when any accrued
Performance Fee has not been paid, resulting in the Manager being removed, the Manager
is entitled to payment of such accrued Performance Fee in: cash,

The management fees (Base Fee and Performance Fee, including any accrued Performance
Fes which has been carried forward from previous financial years but excluding any
acquisition fee or divestment fee} to be paid to the Manager i respect of a financial year,
whether in cash or in units or a combination of cash and units, is capped at an amount
equivalent to 0.8% per annum of the Value of the Trust Property as at the end of the financial
year (referred to as the “annnal fee cap™).

If the amount of such fees for a financial year exceeds the annual fee cap, the Base Fee of
the financial year shall be paid to the Manager and only that portion of the Performance Fee
equal to the balance of an amount up to the annual fee cap will be paid to the Manager. The
remaining portion of the Performance Fee, which will not be paid, shall be accrued and
camied forward for payment to the Manager in fuiure financial years. If, af the end of a
financial year, there is any accrued Performance Fee which has been accrued for a period of
at least three years prior to the end of that financial year, such accrued Performance Fee shail
be paid to the Manager if the accurmnlated return of the Trust Index in that three-year period
exceeds the accunmulated return of the henchmark index over the same period. The payment
of such accrued Performance Fee shall not be subject to the annual fee cap.
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{¢) Acquisition and divestment fecs

The Manager is entitled to receive an acquisition fee of 1.0% of the value of the real estate
acquired. For any acquisition made by the Group in Singapore, any payment to third party
agents or brokers in conncetion with the acquisition shall be borne by the Manager, and not
additionally out of the Group. For any acquisition made by the Group outside Singapore,
any payment to third party agents or brokers shall be borne by the Group, provided that the
Mznager shall charge an acquisition fee of 0.6% instead of 1.0%.

The Manager is entitled to receive a divestment fee of 0.5% of the value of the real estate
divested. For any divestment made by the Group in Singapore, any payment to third party
agents or brokers in connection with the divestmient shall be borne by the Manager, and not
additionally out of the Group, For any divestment made outside Singapore, any payment to
third party agents or brokers shall be bome by the Group, provided that the Manager shall
charge a divestment fee of 0.5% of the sale price. The Manager also receives acquisifion fees
and divestment fees in instances other than an acquisition and divestment of real estate,

(d) Trustee’s fee

Under the Frust Deed, the Trustee’s fee shall not exceed 0.1%6 per annum. of the value of the
deposited property (subject to a minimaom of $8,000 per month excluding out of pocket
expenses and GST) or such higher percentage as may be fixed by an Extracrdinary
Resolution of a meeting of unithelders. The Trustee’s fee is payable out of the deposited
property of the Group on a monthly basis, in arrears. The Trustee is also entitled to
teimbursement of expenses incutred in the performance of its duties under the Trust Deed.

Based on the current agreemeni between the Manager and the Trustee, the Trustee's fee is

tess than §.1% per annum of the value of the deposited property (subject to a minimun of
$8,000 per month excluding out of pocket expenses and GST).

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended
Accounting Practice (“RAP "} 7 “Reporting Framework for Unit Trusis™ issued by the Institute

of Singapore Chartered Accountants (“TSCA™), the applicable requirements of the Code on -

Collective Investment Schemes (“CIS Code™) issued by the Mopetary Authority of Singapore
(“MAS™) and the provisions of the Trust Deed. RAP 7 requives that accounting policies adopted
should generally comply with the principles relating to recognition and measurement of the
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS™).

Basis of measurement

The financial staternents have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except as set out in the
accounting policies below.

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of

the Trust. All financial information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest
thousand, unless otherwise stated.
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Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with RAP 7 requires the Manager to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the applicaticn of policies and reparted
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are helieved to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the resuits of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying amounts of assets and Habilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and any future periods
affected.

Significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies
that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financizl statements are
described in the following notes:

+ Nolc 4 — Valuation of investment properties
+ Note 6 — [mpairment or interests in subsidiaries
» Notes 7 and 24 — Valuation of financial instraments

Adoption of new/revised FRS

The Group has adopfed the following FRSs, amendments to and mterpretations of FRS for the
first time for the year beginning on 1 July 2018:

A, FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

FRS 115 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when
revenue is recogaised. It replaced FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 11 Construction Contracts and related
interpretations. Under FRS 115, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the
goods or services. Determuning the timing of the transfer of control ~ at a point in time or over
tirne — requires judgement.

The Group has adopted FRS 1135 using the cumulative effect method fo contracis that are not
completed confracts at the date of initial application (f.e, I July 2018), with the effect of initially
applying this standard recognised at the date of injtial application, where appropriate.
Accordingly, the information presented for 2018 has not been restated. For information about the
Group’s accounting policies relating to revenue recognition, see Note 3.10. There is no signiftcant
effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Trust upon the adoption of FRS 115,

B. FRS 109 Financial Instrumenis
FRS 109 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial Labilities

and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. It also introduces a new expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model and a new general hedge accounting model.
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FRS 109 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI) and fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of financial assets under FRS 109 is generally based
on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its confractual cash flow
characteristics. FRS 109 eliminates the previous FRS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and
recsivables and available-for-sale. FRS 109 largely retains the existing requirements in FRS 39
for the classification and measurement of financial labilities. The Group elceted not to adjust the
comparative information as permitted under FRS 109 transitional provision. The adoption of FRS
109 has no significant effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Trust.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

For an explanation of how the Group classifies and measures financial instruments and accounts
for related pains and iosses under FRS 109, sce MNote 3.6.

The foliowing tables explain the oniginal measurement categories under the principles of FRS 39
and the new measurement caiegories under the principles of FRS 109 for cach ¢lass of the Group’s
and the Frust’s financial assets and financial liabilities as at 1 July 2018.

Original New Original New
classification  classification  carrying carrying
under under amount under amount pnder
Note FRS 39 FRS 109 FRS 39 FRS 109
52060 $*00¢
Group
Financial assels
Derivative financial Designated at  Mandatorily at
instruments i FVTPL FVTPL 2,208 2,208
Trade and other Loans and
receivables 8 receivables  Amortised cost 3,518 3,518
Cash and cash Loans and
equivalents 9 receivables  Amortised cost 66,730 66,730
Total financial assets ___ 72456 72,456
Financial liabilities
Trade and other Other financial Other financial
payables 16 liabilities lizbilities 60,578 60,578
Derivative financial Designated at  Mandatorily at
instruments 7 FVTPL FVTPL 1,441 1,441
Qther financial Qther financial
Borrowings i2 liabilities liahilities 1,130,329 1,130,329
Totzal financinl liabilities 1,192 348 1,192,348
FS14
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Original New Original New
classification  classification  ecarrying carrying
under under amount under amount under
Nuoge FRS 39 FRS 109 FRS 39 FRS 109
S*H00 $000
Trust
Financial asseis
Derivative financial Designated at Mandatorily at
instriments 7 FVTPL FVTPL 2206 2.206
Trade and other Loans and
receivables 8 receivables  Amortised cost 2,645 2,645
Cash and cash Loans and
equivalents 9 receivables  Amortised cost 20,420 20,420
Total financial assets 25,271 25,271
Financiai liabilities
Trade and other Other financial Other financial
payables 10 liabilities liabilities 44,571 44,571
Derivative finapcial Designated at  Mandatorily at
instruments 7 FVTPL FVTPL 538 538
Borrowings QOther financial Other financial
12 liabilities liabilities 801,954 801,954
Total financial liahilities 847,663 847,063

Impairment of financial assets

FRS 109 replaces the “incurred loss® mode] in FRS 3¢ with an ECL model. The Group applies the
simplified approach and records lifetime ECL on all trade receivables (sec Note 3.8). The change
in the impairment loss amount was negligible.

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out befow have been applied consistently by the Group and the Trust
to all periods in these financial statements and have been applied consistently by Group entities,
except as explained in Note 2.5.

Basis of consolidation
Business combinarions

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date,
which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Control cxists when the Group is
exposed to or has rights to variable refirns from its involvement with an entify and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entify.

The consideration fransferrad does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss in the statement of total
refurn.

Costs related fo the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as
incurred.
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Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity,
it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss in the statement
of total return. :

Suabsidiaries

Subsidiaries are enfities controlled by the Group and include entities that are created
accomplish a narrow and well defined cbjective such as the execution of a specific transaction
where the substance of the relationship is that the Group controls the entity. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returms from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that controf ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions eliminated on consolidution

Intra-gronp balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial staiements.

Accounnting for subsidiaries by the Trust

Interests in subsidiaries are stated in the Trust’s balance sheet at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functiona! currencies of Group
entities at the exchange rates at the dates of the transaction. Monetary assets and Labilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting date are transiated to the functional
ciprency at the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are
measured in terms of historical cost are translated vsing the exchange rate at the date of the
transactions. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective
interest and paymenis during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the
exchange rate at the end of the year. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are
recognised in profit or loss in the statemeat of total refurn except for the differcnces arising on
the translation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in foreign
operation (see below).

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period. The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Goodwill and

fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
Habilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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Foreign currency differcnces are recognised in foreign cwnrency franslation reserve. When a
foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amomt is fransferred to profit or
loss in the statement of otal return.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is
neither planned ror Iikely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses aristng
from such a monefary item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation.
These are recognised in profit or loss in the Trust’s statement of total return, and are reclassified
to the foreign currency translation reserve in the consolidated financial statements,

Hedge of a net investment in foreign operation

The Group applies hedge accounting by designating a non-derivative financial liability as a hedge
of a net investment in the foreign operation, with the corresponding foreign ewrrency differences
arising on the translation being reclassified to the Group’s foreign currency translation reserve.
To the extent that the hedge is ineffactive, such differences are recognised in profit or loss in the
statement of total return. When the hedged net investment is disposed of, the relevant amount in
the foreign currency translation reserve is transferred to profit or loss in the statement of total
return as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

Plant and equipment arc stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost
incindes expenditure that is directly atiributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly
aftributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for ifs intended use, and when the Group
has an obligation to remove the asset or vestore the site, an estimate of the cost of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.

When parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for
as separate items (major components) of plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of plant and equipment is determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the plant and equipment, and is recognised
in profif or loss in the statement of total return,

Subisequent costs

'The cost of replacing part of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will fiow
to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The cost of the day-to-day servicing of plant
and equipment are recognised in profit or loss in the statement of total return as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation of plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss in the statement of total return
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 2 to 5 years.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate,
at each reporting date.
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Investment properties

Investmeni properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation
or for both. Investment properties are measured at cost on initial recognition, and subsequently
at fair value with any changes therein recognised in profit or 1oss in the statement of total retumn.
Fair value is determined in accordance with the Trust Deed, which requires investment propertics
o be valued by independent rogistered valuers in such manner and frequency required under
Appendix 6 of the CIS Code (“Property Fund Appendix™) issued by MAS.

Subsequent expenditure relating to investment properties that has already been recognised is
added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that fiture economic benefits, in
excess of originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Group.
Al other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the peried in which it is incurred.
When an invesiment property is disposed of, the resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
in the statement of total retum is the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property.

Intangible asset

Gondwill

Goodwill and bargain purchase may arise upon the acquisition of subsidiaries.

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase pain is recognised

immediately in profit or loss in the statement of total retum,

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries (if any) is presented in intangible assef.
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, and fested for impairment.

Financial instruments

Initial recognition

Non-derivafive finamcial assets and financial liabilities

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Classification and measurement

Non-derivative financial assets — Policy applicable from 1 Joly 2018

The Group classifies its non-derivative financial assets into the following measurement
cafegories: amortised costs.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets as
well as the contractual terms of the cash flows of the financial asset. The Group reclassifies
financial assets when and only when its busmess model for managing those assets changes.
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Financial assets of amortised cost

A financial asset at amortised cost, which is held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, is initially measured at its
fair value plus tansaction costs that are directly attributable o the acquisition of the financial
asset. Interest income from the financial asset is included in interest income using the effective
interest method.

Non-derivative financial assets — Policy applicable before 1 July 2018

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following category: loans and
receivables.

Loans and receivabies

Loans and receivables were financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that were not
quoted in an active market. Such assets are initially measured at fair value plus any dicectly
affribntable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables were
mcasured at amortised cost using the effective interest methed, less any impaimment losses.

Loans and receivables comprised trade and other receivables excluding prepayments, and cash
and cash equivalents.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilitics under the other financial liabilities
catepory. Such financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable
fransaction costs. Subseguent fo initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at
amortised cost uvsing the cffective interest method. Other financial liabilities comprise
borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Drerecognition
Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash fiows in a fransaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when ifs terms are modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of 2 financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished

and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is
recognised in profit or loss in the statement of total return,
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Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance
sheet when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
amounts and it intends either to settle them om a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group halds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate
risk exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for
separately if the host contract is not a financial asset and certain criteria are met. The Group dees
not adopt hedge aceounting for its derivative financial instruments as at 30 June 2019,
Derivatives are initially measured at fair value and any directly attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or less in the sfatement of total return as incurred. Subsequent to initial
recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are generally recognised
in profit or loss in the statement of total retumn.

Certain derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments can be designated as hedging
instruments in qualifying hedging relationships. At inception of designated hedging relationships,
documentation of the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking fhe hedpe s
required, inclnding the economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging

instrument, and whether the changes in cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are
expected to offset each other.

Unitholders® funds
Unitholders’ finds represent the residual interest in the Group’s net assets upon termination and

are classified as equity. Expenses incurred in the issuance and placement of units (if any) in the
Group are deducted directly against unitholders’ funds.

Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets

Policy applicable from 1 July 2018

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised costs.
Simplified approach

The Group applies the simplified approach fo provide loss ailowances for ECLs for all trade
reccivables. The simplified approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.
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General approach

The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on ail other financial instruments.
Under the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs
at initial recognition: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possiblc within the
12 months after the reporting date {or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is
less than 12 months),

At gach reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, loss ailowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and snpporiable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and includes forward-looking information.

¥f oredit risk has not inereased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the
financial instruments improves such that there is no Jonger a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.

The Group considers a financial asset fo be in default when a tenant or a counlerparty is unahle
to settle its financial and contractual obligations to the Group in ful, as and when they fail due.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Mensurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses arc measured at the
present value of all cash shorifalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are
discountad at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assefs carried at amortised cost are
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a

detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

e significant financial difficelty of the tenant or counterparty;

® g breach of contract such as a default by the tenant or connterparty; or

e it is probable that the fenant or counterparty will enter bankruptecy or other financial
reorganisation,

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the balance sheel

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of these assets.
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Write-off

‘The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the

extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that ave written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures
for recovery of amounts due.

Policy applicable before 1 July 2018

A financial asset not carried at FVTPL was assessed at the end of each reporting peried to
determine whether there was objective evidence that it was impaired. A financial asset was
impaired if objective evidence indicated that & loss event had occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset, and that the loss event had an irmpact on the estimated future cash flows of that assct
that could be estimated reliably.

Obijective evidence that financial assets were impaired included default or delinqueacy by a
tenant, restruciuring of an amount due fo the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise, indications that a tenant or issuer would enter banlaruptey.

Loans and receivables

The Group considered evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both an individual
asset and collective level. All individually significant assets weve individually assessed for
impairment. Those found not to be impaired were then collectively assessed for any impairient
that had been incurred but not yet identified. Assets that were not individually significant were
coliectively assessed for impairment. Collective assessment was carried out by grouping together
agsets with similar risk characteristies.

In. assessing collective impairment, the Group used historical information on the timing of
recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, and made an adjustment if current economic and credit
conditions were such that the actual losses were likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by
historical trends.

An impairment loss was calculated as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted al the asset’s originai effective
interest rate. Losses were recognised in profit or loss in the statement of total return and reflected
in an allowance account. Whea the Group considered that there were no realistic prospects of
recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts were written off. If the amount of impairment loss
subsequently decreased and the decrease was related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, then the previously recognised impairment loss was reversed through
profit or loss in the statement of total retuin.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment properties, are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impaimment. If
any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss

is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or jis related cash-generating unit (“CGU™)
exnceds its estimated recoverable amount.
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The recoverable amount of an assct or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in uvse, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing,
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of
other assets or CGUs. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill
impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level
at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
reporting purposes. Goedwill acquived in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs
that arc cxpected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss in the statement of total return. Tmpairment
losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrving amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU {group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the
other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rafa basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is nof reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrving amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations, including contributions to defined confribution pension
plass, if any, are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided in profit or loss in the statement of total return.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-ferm cash boaus where
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and he obligation can be estimated reliably.

Revenue recognition

Rewzal income from operating lzases

Rental meome receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in the statement of
fotal return on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except where an altemative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Lease
incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total renial to be received. Confingent
rentals, which include gross tmmover rontal, are recognised as incoree in the accounting period
on a receipt basis. No contingent rentals are recognised if there are uncertainties due to the
possible return of amounts received.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss in the statement of total refurn on the date that the
Trust’s right to receive payment is established.
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Finance income and finance expenses

Finance income comprises mainly interest income on funds invested. Interest income is
recognised in profit or loss in the statement of total retvrn, vsing the effective interest method.

Finance expenses comprises maily inferest expense on borrowings and amortisation of loan
acquisition expenses. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the sfatement of total
return using the effective interest method.

Expenses
Property operating expenses

Property operating cxpenses are recopnised on zn accrual basis, Property operating expenses
comprise mainly property tax, maintenance and sinking fund coatributions, leasing and upkeep
expenses, marketing expenses, administrative expenses, impairnent loss on trade receivables as
well as property management fees and leasing commission which are based on the applicable
formula stipulated in Note 1{a).

Marnagement fees

Management fees are recognised on an acerual basis based on the applicable formula stipulated
in Note 1{b}.

Trust expenses

Trost expenses are recognised on an accrual basis. Included in trust expenses is the Trustee’s fee
which is described in Note 1¢d}.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are
recognised in profit or kiss in the statement of total return except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items directly related to unitholders’ funds, in which case it is recognised
in upitholders® funds.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the tagable income or loss for the vear,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for reporting purposes and the amounts used for laxation purposes, Deferred

tax is not recognised for:

»  temporary differences on the initial recognifion of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is
not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and

e temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
they will not reverse in the foresesable future.
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